# Using salient information for motor performance and learning

Kumulative Dissertation zur Erlangung des Grades eines Doktors der Philosophie der Fakultät HW Bereich Empirische Humanwissenschaften Universität des Saarlandes

vorgelegt von

Peter Leinen

aus Saarlouis

Saarbrücken, September 2017

Dekan: Prof. Dr. Cornelius König

Erster Berichterstatter: Prof. Dr. Stefan Panzer

Zweiter Berichterstatter: Prof. Dr. Klaus Blischke

Termin der Disputation: 23.08.2017

# Acknowledgments

I would first like to thank my thesis advisor Prof. Dr. Stefan Panzer. The door to his office was always open whenever I ran into a trouble spot or had a question about my research or writing. He consistently allowed this paper to be my own work, but steered me in the right the direction whenever he thought I needed it.

I would also like to thank all co-authors who were closely involved in the research and publications on which this dissertation is based on: Prof. Dr. Charles H. Shea, Dr. Solveig Vieluf, Prof. Dr. Deanna Kennedy and Prof. Dr. Gisa Aschersleben.

Likewise, it has been a pleasure to meet and work with great colleagues during my tenure as a phd student. I would also like to mention my past and present fellow office colleagues, Falko, Franz, Hanna, Klaus, Matthias and Thomas, with whom I had/have a great time working, discussing problems and who were never too busy to have a chat off the topic when needed.

I also thank all my friends and pahtenhood for their support by just being there and especially Heike and Martina, who did both a great job by backing up my english language and grammar.

Finally, I must express my very profound gratitude to my parents, Ursula and Hubert, and to my partner Janine for providing me with unfailing support and continuous encouragement throughout my years of study and through the process of researching and writing this thesis. This accomplishment would not have been possible without them.

Thank you.

Peter Leinen

#### Abstract

Human motor behavior includes a very wide range of movements such as grasping a cup to drink your coffee, playing a musical instrument such as the piano, or sports skills such as throwing a ball. Some of these skills are performed with one hand (unimanually) others simultaneously with both hands (bimanually). However, all of these skills have to be learned. In the domain of motor control and learning it is well documented that feedback is one potential learning variable that supports the learning process. Recent research has indicated that one important factor refers to the salient feedback information that a performer uses to increase motor performance and learning. Salient feedback information in this context not only supports the detection and correction of errors. It also forces the performer to achieve a stable performance pattern and improves the development of an efficient movement representation. This research involved three experiments which focused on the following issues: (1) determining the impact of availability and accessibility of salient feedback for the development of a movement sequence representation, (2) finding out at which hemisphere the movement sequence representation is represented, and (3) establishing the impact of salient feedback information during a life-span in a bimanual coordination task. The results indicate that performers have developed an efficient movement sequence representation depending on the available salient feedback information (Experiment 1) and that this information is represented in a specific hemisphere in our central nervous system (Experiment 2). Salient information also supports the performance of a multifrequency bimanual coordination task after 10 minutes of practice. However the performance changes in the course of a life-span (Experiment 3).

#### Zusammenfassung

Das menschliche Verhalten beinhaltet eine Vielzahl von Alltagsbewegungen, wie das Greifen einer Tasse, Bewegungen im musischen Bereich wie das Klavierspielen oder auch sportliche Bewegungen wie das Werfen eines Balles. Einige dieser Bewegungen werden mit einer Hand ausgeführt (unimanuell) andere gleichzeitig mit beiden Händen (bimanuell). Gemein allen diesen Bewegungen ist das sie erlernt werden müssen. In der Literatur ist gut dokumentiert, dass Feedback eine Lernvariable ist, welche die Lernprozesse unterstützen kann. Aktuelle Forschungsergebnisse zeigen, dass eine wichtige Komponente in der Salienz von Feedbackinformationen besteht. Dies bedeutet welche Informationen werden aus der Vielzahl von Informationen die dem Lernenden zu Verfügung stehen herausgehoben und somit dem Lerner leichter zugänglich gemacht damit dieser eine effiziente Bewegungsrepräsentation für die motorische Ausführung etablieren kann. In drei Experimenten wurde den Fragen nachgegangen (1) ob in Abhängigkeit der Verfügbarkeit und Zugänglichkeit von Feedback eine Bewegungsrepräsentation etabliert werden kann, (2) wo die Informationen über die Bewegungsrepräsentation in unserem Zentralnervensystem abgespeichert werden und (3) ob saliente Informationen die motorische Ausführungsleistung über die Lebenspanne bei einer bimanuellen Koordinationsaufgabe unterschiedlich beeinflussen. Die Ergebnisse dass in Abhängigkeit der Salienz zeigen, von Feedbackinformationen Lerner eine effiziente Bewegungsrepräsentation basierend auf visuell-räumlichen oder motorischen Informationen entwickeln (Experiment 1) und diese Informationen hemisphärenspezifisch in unserem Zentralnervensystem abgespeichert werden (Experiment 2). Saliente Informationen ermöglichen es den Lernern zudem, bimanuelle multifrequenzielle motorische Aufgaben bereits nach weniger als 10 Minuten Übung auszuführen. Die Leistung ist aber über die Lebensspanne graduell unterschiedlich (Experiment 3).

# Table of contents

1.	Introduction7
2.	Theoretical Background12
3.	Overview
3.1	Overview about the conducted experiments
3.2	Overview about further publications21
3.3	Overview about conference talks with review of the submitted abstract21
4.	Experiment 1 - The impact of concurrent visual feedback on coding of on-line and pre-planned movement sequences
5.	Experiment 2 - Hemispheric asymmetries of a motor memory in a recognition test after learning a movement sequence
6.	Experiment 3 - Life span changes: Performing a continuous 1:2 bimanual coordination task45
7.	General discussion and outlook58
7.1	The learning problem59
7.2	The perceptual-motor integration problem
7.3	Outlook
	References

# 1 Introduction

To establish learning processes and increases in performance all kinds of systems take advantage of various feedback mechanisms. The complexity of feedback mechanisms ranges from a simple heater-thermostat unit in a room which is using the thermostat as an information feedback channel to high-end technical systems like autonomous cars, which incorparate a plurality of different sensors to process internal and external feedback in order to ensure a safe and successful arrival at the right destination. One of the most complex systems, however, is the human motor system and it remains far from being perfectly understood. The human motor system controls our daily actions, can rapidly learn new skills and always seeks to optimize its performance. In order to do so, the human motor system uses several different information channels to obtain the necessary feedback information in order to reach its goals and improve its performance.

Adams (1971) proposed that motor learning processes are shaped and improved through the refinement of perceptional-motor feedback loops. A motor task like grasping a glass, for example, is a process in our motor system that provides perceptional feedback information to reduce errors in the repetitions of the task. A mix of feedback information is involved in this task. Visual-perceptional information provides the motor system with basic information about the target itself and the system's spatial relation to the target. But further supporting feedback information is proceeded in this task, e.g. haptic information to control the strength of the grasp or proprioceptic information to estimate the right force to lift the glass.

7

According to Adams (1971), feedback provides information helping to solve the motor problem by guiding the movement to the target on successive trials. He suggested that feedback does not directly produce learning, but, it creates the appropriate situation (i.e., being on target) so that the actual learning mechanisms can operate (i.e., the movement's feedback producing an increment in "strength" for the perceptual trace). This source of information is thought to serve as a basis for error detection and correction on subsequent trials and thus can be used to achieve more effective performance as practice continues.

According to the literature on motor learning, one of the most important variables in the learning of motor skills is the information provided by extrinsic feedback regarding the progress and outcome of performing movements. This visual-perceptual information can be presented through concurrent and terminal feedback (Adams, 1971; Bilodeau & Bilodeau, 1958). A lot of research has been done on the topic of visualperceptual feedback and provided evidence that there are all kind of parameters that influence our motor system in the way it deals with visual-perceptual feedback information. More than a century ago Woodworth (1899) already described the influence of the visual-perceptual feedback on the control modes subjects choose for their motor action. His subjects were given the task to draw a line on a piece of paper in a back-and-forth movement. The execution speed was controlled by a metronome and was gradually increased. In one condition, his subjects kept their eyes open during the execution and in the second condition subjects had to close their eyes. The results showed the accuracy advantage of the open-eyes group in the trials with a lower velocity versus the closed-eyes group. This advantage in accuracy steadily shrank with the increase of movement velocity. Woodworth deducted from these results that the

movements of both groups were initialized as pre-programmed movements, but the eyes-open-group was able to use their visual-perceptual information (or what he called *current control*) during the execution to reduce their movement errors, at least as long the movement velocity still gave them the opportunity to use the feedback in their action. This so called *critical velocity* describes the time mark in the duration of an action at which visual-perceptual feedback can be included in the motor control process and be used for error correction. This critical time was estimated by Woodworth to be around 200ms. This has largely been confirmed by later researches (e.g. Keele & Possner, 1968). These early findings lead to the conclusion that visual-perceptual feedback always depends on the context of its action. In this case, the value of the feedback information changes in contrast to the duration of the original action.

In research on motor learning and performance there has always been a great effort to present feedback information most accurately in order to provide optimal support for learning and performance. As mentioned before, which still today has high relevance for the understanding of the mechanisms behind processing feedback information is the closed-loop theory of motor learning by Adams (1971). The basic idea of this theory is that the learners develop a perceptual trace based on the various types of feedback information generated through their action. This perceptual trace is used for an ongoing comparison versus a stored set of sensory consequences to reduce errors in future performances. The model is based on an engineering analogy, also known as negative feedback loop, and is consistent with previous findings on the role of feedback in learning and performance (e.g., Adams, 1968; Bilodeau, 1966).

To better support this negative feedback loop, feedback information can be modified and optimized. This optimized feedback information can also be described as salient information. In general, salient information is characterized by pieces of multimodal perceptual information, which before, during or after a movement is more readily accessible to the learner, to improve motor performance and motor learning. Salient perceptual information facilitates pattern detection and improves error detection and correction processes to increase stable performance through practice (see Shea et al., 2016).

Salient feedback information is a way to optimize this negative feedback loop by providing modified information, making it easier and more efficient for the motor system to detect and minimize errors. In other words, developing more salient feedback information is like switching from a roadmap to a navigation system to find a certain street in an unknown city. A map in combination with the knowledge of your current location provides all the necessary information to find a final destination and enables the user to look at the map at anytime to correct his direction. But the map does not present the most needed piece of information. All information required to reach a destination is embedded in the sum of all the information this map can provide to the viewer. And the viewer has to make an effort to extract the specific feedback information needed at this point. In contrast, most mobile navigation systems provide the user with a reduced amount of information based on their current location. Some devices even display new information only before a direction change. The navigation system displays salient feedback information which is reduced to a set of core facts and pre-processed for better flawless integration into our primary feedback loop, so that the user can navigate the vehicle to the final destination.

In the experiments conducted in the framework to this thesis the type of salient information is also a visual information aiming to support a person in optimizing their negative feedback loops. The visual salient information here is represented in two different modes in which a computer cursor is controlled by one or two arm-levers.

In experiment 1 and experiment 2 the presented salient feedback information supports the performer in learning a unimanual movement sequence. In some of the conditions of these two experiments the performers can see the cursor and a representation of the target movement sequence and are provided with a visual online feedback of the spatial and temporal differences of their concurrent movement production. Afterwards, in all conditions the performers are given a KR (knowledge of result) feedback. The produced movement sequence is displayed as a graphical overlay on the representation of the target movement sequence. This also provides the performers a simplified visual comparison of the produced movement sequence and the differences in spatial and temporal dimensions.

In experiment 3, the task and the characteristics of the salient feedback information are altered. The task switches from a unimanual task to a bimanual task. The salient feedback information addresses the bimanual coordination problem of the task. To support the performer, the salient feedback information of both limbs is compressed into one displayed cursor. Reducing the amount of visual information in this salient feedback information makes it easier to integrate it into a negative feedback loop.

# 2 Theoretical background

With this context dependency of visual-perceptual feedback in mind, this thesis and its experiments offer further perspectives on how salient information in the form of visual-perspective feedback influence the way we learn and perform different motor tasks.

The way movement sequences are represented and processed in our brain is an important research topic in the field of motor control and learning. It started with the work of Lashley (1951) and the topic is still very visible in recent research groups (Bapi, Miyapuram, Graydon, & Doya, 2006; Hikosaka, Nakamura, Sakai, & Nakahara, 2002; Keele, Ivry, Mayr, Hazeltine, & Heuer, 2003; Kirsch & Kunde, 2012; Korman, Raz, Flash, & Karnim, 2003; Nakahara, Doya, & Hikosaka, 2001; Shea & Kovacs, 2013; Shea & Wright, 2012; Tanaka &Watanabe, 2014). A main conclusion of these research groups is that there seems to be some evidence that independent codes or representations during the acquisition of a movement sequence are developed and the availability of several pieces of information, like salient information, assist the learning process (Keele et al., 2003). In addition, most of these theoretical frameworks describe a change in the representation during the acquisition phase (Bapi et al., 2006; Dirnberger & Novak-Knollmueller, 2013).

A consistent theoretical framework is the parallel neural-network model of Hikosaka et al. (1999). It is based on behavioral and neuronal imaging data (Bapi, Doya, & Harner, 2000; Hikosaka et al., 1999, 2002). Hikosaka et al. (1999) describe the development of two parallel representations during the acquisition of a movement sequence. One neural stream is a fast developing representation based on a visual-spatial coordinate

system (e.g., spatial locations of the end effector and/or sequential target positions, effector-independent) and the second one, is a contemporaneous but slower developing representation which bases on a motor coordinate system (e.g., sequence of activation patterns of the agonist/antagonist muscles and/or achieved joint angles, effector-dependent). According to this framework, the reaction of the parallel neural-network model to further practice is an alternating shift of reliance from the fast developing visual-spatial coordinate system to the slower developing motor coordinate system (Hikosaka et al., 1999; Bapi et al., 2000).

Besides practice, it seems there are additional parameters which have an impact on the more efficient coordinate system for sequence production. Moreover, the complexity (for example the amount of reversals and/or the duration) of the movement sequence and the availability of concurrent visual feedback seem to influence the preference toward the dominating coordinate system in the sequence production (Panzer, Krueger, Muehlbauer, Kovacs, & Shea, 2009; Shea et al., 2011). The results of Kovacs, Boyle, Gruetzmacher, and Shea (2010) provide a more detailed example. They showed that the availability of concurrent visual feedback and the possibility of online control in a movement sequence resulted in a stronger preference for the visual-spatial coordinate system. In contrast, if concurrent visual feedback was prevented, the participants showed a better performance in the motor transfer test, which implies a preference for the motor coordinate system.

Based on the results, our follow-up question is to know whether it is possible to switch coding schemes (motor and visual-spatial) and control modes (online and pre-planed control) after the acquisition depending on the type of salient information which is presented. In accordance to the theoretical framework of Hikosaka et. al. (1999) it should be possible to access both coordinate systems regardless of the performers' learning stage or their actual status. Depending on the available salient information, subjects use the most successful code for sequence production irrespective of the stage of practice (see also Clegg, DiGirolamo, & Keele, 1998; Kovacs, Han, & Shea, 2009).

Furthermore this is a relevant question with regard to the perspective of control modes. According to Glover (2004) and the older works of Woodworth (1899), our motor control system is able to alternate between pre-planned control and online control, but it naturally chooses the more efficient control mode depending on the context of the task (e. g. the availability of feedback and the kind of task). Based on these assumptions of Glover's (2004) planning-control model, the leading question in this first experiment helps to further understand how flexible the subjects are in their choice of control modes and to what extent subjects are able to switch the executed control mode through a change in the availability of salient information at a certain point after the task acquisition.

The outcome of the first experiment leads us to a shift from the starting question of *how* movement-related information is influenced by manipulating the supporting salient information to the follow-up question of *where* this movement-related information is stored and proceeded after the acquisition with the support of salient information.

To obtain answers to this question we combined for the first time the idea of the intermanual-transfer-test paradigm with a recognition test based on the visual-half-field (VHF) paradigm. There already have been experiments which combined the idea

of intermanual-transfer-test and the visual-half-field paradigm, but in a different application and for other purposes. Ellenbuerger et al. (2012) and Schmitz et al. (2013) have conducted experiments, where visual information about a sequence was presented in different VHF during sequence acquisition in order to investigate the encoding of a sequence representation in the two hemispheres. They used the visual-half-field paradigm to project information directly on a specific hemisphere. This was done during acquisition and without physical exercise. Based on this thesis the visual information Ellenbuerger et al. (2012) and Schmitz et al. (2013) used in their experiments can be classified as salient information. In the first experiment of this dissertation the focus was on the time required to recognize the stimulus in a visualhalf-field shortly after the physical acquisition of a movement sequence.

The basic assumption of the visual-half-field paradigm is based on interhemispheric transmission and the physiological structures of the crossed visual pathways. Visual stimuli presented selectively to either the left visual field (LVF) or the right visual field (RVF) are initially projected directly to the contralateral hemisphere (Bourne, 2006). The latency a subject needs to respond to a stimulus presented in either of the VHFs reveals details about the hemispheric origin of the information processing. If the response time of a stimulus presented in the RVF is lower compared to the response time of the same stimulus presented in the LVF, this means the origin of the response production is based on the left brain hemisphere. The higher response time that comes with a LVF presentation must be traced back to the detour the stimulus information takes from the right brain hemisphere over the corpus callosum to the left brain hemisphere, which is the main proceeding brain hemisphere for this information and resulting response production (Hardyck, Tzeng, & Wang, 1977; Kinsbourne, 1970; Poffenberger, 1912; Berlucchi, Aglioti, & Tassinari, 1994 for a review).

A further advantage and additional feature of the VHF-paradigm are in contrast to the intermanual-transfer-test, as it reduces possible lateralization effects caused through the handedness of the learner. This can be ascribed to the fact, that motor information is only recognized after acquisition by a response through a bimanually keypress and not physically reproduced with unilateral limb movement.

In the last step of these experiments we extended the use of salient information by modifying the task. At first we used salient information in different presentation modes as support in the acquisition of a unimanual task. In the last experiment we used salient information as concurrent feedback to support the execution of a continuous 1:2 bimanual coordination task. The task itself asks the subject to make a continuous extension-flexion movement with both of their limbs. This had to be done in a manner so that one limb had to move twice as fast as the other limb. These limb movements result in a continuous change between the symmetrical and the non-symmetrical mode of coordination while performing the task (Swinnen, Dounskaia, Walter, & Serrien, 1997). Because of this dynamical change task was hard to learn. But with visual online support of salient information, the subjects were able to produce an effective performance of this task after a few minutes of practice. The salient information provided in this task was an online Lissajous feedback. Lissajous display presents the integrated movement of the two limbs as a cursor in one plane, where the movement of the right limb, for example, moves the cursor to the right (extension) and left (flexion), while the movement of the left limb moves the cursor up (extension) and down (flexion) on the display. This compressing of the movement information of both limbs

results in optimized perceptual information and reduced attentional demands for the learner (see Shea et. al., 2015 for review).

In addition to this, the driving idea in this last experiment was to trace the development of the bimanual skill acquired with the support of salient information over a subject's life span. As shown in motor development research children and older adults have a stronger tendency for mirror movements in bimanual coordination tasks than young adults (e.g., Addamo, Farrow, Bradshaw, & Georgiou-Karistianis, 2011; Cattaert, Semjen, & Summers, 1999; Cohen, Taft, Mahadeviah, & Birch, 1967; Conolly & Stratton, 1968; Walter & Swinnen, 1990b; Wolff, Gunnoe, & Cohen, 1983). Throughout life this tendency decreases in children, but increase again in older adults. There is some evidence that both changes are connected to transformations of the corpus callosum. For children the tendency decreases with the time of the completion of the myelination of the corpus callosum (e.g., Chicoine, Proteau, & Lassonde, 2000; Serrien, Sovijärvi-Spapé, & Rana, 2014; Yakovlev & Lecours, 1967). For older adults the reappearance of these mirror movement tendencies co-occurs with age-related degenerative processes of the callosal structures, i.e., the demyelination of the callosal fibers (e.g., Pfefferbaum et al., 2000; Salat et al., 2005).

# 3 Overview

The main contents of this thesis are three experiments presented in published journal articles which highlight the role of salient information in motor performance and learning.

In experiment 1 ("*The impact of concurrent visual feedback on coding of on-line and pre-planned movement sequences*") the main purpose of the experiment was to determine if the availability of salient information during an acquisition influences the preference of our motor control system for one of the two parallel coordinate systems (visual–spatial, motor). Another research question was as to how flexible the motor control system is, if the availability of the salient information suddenly changes.

The task was to reproduce a 2000ms spatial-temporal pattern of a sequence of elbow flexions and extensions. Subjects were randomly assigned to one of the two conditions, online (OL) or pre-planned (PP). In the OL condition the criterion waveform and the cursor were provided during movement production while this information was withheld during movement production for the PP condition. The task was embedded in an inter-manual transfer design. After the retention test an additional subdivision was introduced. One half of the subjects stayed in their condition (PP->PP or OL->OL) and the other half switched the condition for the transfer tests (PP->OL or OL->PP). The mirror effector transfer test required the same pattern of muscle activation and limb joint angles as required during acquisition. The non-mirror transfer test required movements to the same visual-spatial locations as experienced during acquisition.

Experiment 2 ("Hemispheric asymmetries of a motor memory in a recognition test after learning a movement sequence") answers the question on where, i. e. on which

brain hemisphere, the more efficient coordinate system for sequence production is represented. This experiment is divided in two sub-experiments. In sub-experiment 1, dominant right-handers were randomly divided into one of two acquisition groups: a left-hand starter and a right-hand starter group. After an acquisition phase, reaction time (RT) was measured in a recognition test by providing the acquired sequential pattern in the left or right visual half-field for 150 ms. The recognition test was embedded in a visual-half-field design. In a retention test and two transfer tests the dominant coordinate system for sequence production was evaluated. In sub-experiment 2 dominant left-handers and dominant right-handers had to acquire the sequence with their dominant limb.

Finally, in the third experiment ("*Life span changes: Performing a continuous 1:2 bimanual coordination task*") the perspective changes from a unimanual to a bimanual task. The research interest was to find out how a person's age influences the execution of the newly acquired bimanual skill, which was acquired with the support of salient information feedback.

Children, young adults, and older adults were instructed to perform a continuous 1:2 bimanual coordination task by performing flexion-extension wrist movements over 30s where symmetrical and non-symmetrical coordination patterns alternate throughout the trial. The vision of the wrists was obstructed and salient information in form of Lissajous-feedback was provided online. All age groups had to perform 10 trials under three different load conditions (0 kg, .5 kg, 1.0 kg: order counterbalanced). The load was manipulated in order to determine if heavier load increases the likelihood of mirror movements.

# **3.1** Overview about the conducted experiments

#### Experiment 1

Authors: Leinen, P., Shea, C. H. & Panzer, S.

Title: "The impact of concurrent visual feedback on coding of on-line and pre-planned movement sequences"

Contribution of Peter Leinen: planning; organization; data acquisition; data analysis; authoring of the manuscript

Status: published in Acta Psychologica, 2015

#### Experiment 2

Authors: Leinen, P., Panzer, S. & Shea, C. H.

- Title: "Hemispheric asymmetries of a motor memory in a recognition test after learning a movement sequence"
- Contribution of Peter Leinen: planning; organization; hardware development (eye tracker); data acquisition; data analysis; authoring of the manuscript Status: published in Acta Psychologica, 2016

#### Experiment 3

Authors: Leinen, P., Vieluf, S., Kennedy, D., Aschersleben, G., Shea, C. H. & Panzer, S.

Title: "Life span changes: Performing a continuous 1:2 bimanual coordination task"

- Contribution of Peter Leinen: planning; organization; data acquisition; data analysis; authoring of the manuscript
- Status: published in Human Movement Science, 2016

# 3.2 Overview about further publications

Authors: Leinen, P. & Panzer, S.

Title: "Entwicklung eines trainerfreundlichen Messplatzes in einer Schwimmhalle mit Open Source Tools."

Contribution of Peter Leinen: planning; organization; hardware development; authoring of the manuscript

Status: published in DVS Sportinformatik - Abstract- und des Proceeding-Band, 2016

Authors: Vieluf, S., Massing, M., Blandin, Y., Leinen, P. & Panzer, S.

Title: "The role of eye movements in motor sequence learning"

Contribution of Peter Leinen: planning; data analysis; authoring of the manuscript

Status: published in Human Movement Science, 2015

Authors: Malangré, A., Leinen, P. & Blischke, K,

Title: "Sleep-related offline learning in a complex arm movement sequence."

Contribution of Peter Leinen: planning; organization; data analysis

Status: published in Journal of Human Kinetics, 2014

# 3.3 Overview about conference talks with review of the submitted abstract

Authors: Leinen, P. & Panzer, S.

Title: "Entwicklung eines trainerfreundlichen Messplatzes in einer Schwimmhalle mit

Open Source Tools "

Contribution of Peter Leinen: Presenter

Conference: DVS Conference "Sportinformatik", 2016

Authors: Leinen, P. & Panzer, S.Title: "Pointing movements and visual illusion: van Donkelaar (1999) revisited."Contribution of Peter Leinen: PresenterConference: NASPSPA Conference, 2016

Authors: Leinen, P., Panzer, S. & Shea, C.H.Title: "Does ischemia influence effector transfer?"Contribution of Peter Leinen: PresenterConference: NASPSPA Conference, 2015

Authors: Panzer, S., Leinen, P. & Shea, C.H. Title: "Is the motor coordinate system lateralized in the left hemisphere?" Contribution of Peter Leinen: in cooperation with Stefan Panzer Conference: NASPSPA Conference, 2014

Authors: Panzer, S. & Leinen, P.Title: "Lateralisierte Wissensrepräsentation von Sportgeräten."Contribution of Peter Leinen: PresenterConference: DVS Conference "Motorik", 2013

# 4 Experiment 1 - The impact of concurrent visual feedback on coding of on-line and pre-planned movement sequences

Peter Leinen<sup>1</sup>, Charles H. Shea<sup>2</sup> & Stefan Panzer<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Saarland University, Germany

<sup>2</sup> Texas A&M University, United States

Published in Acta Psychologica 155 (2015) 92–100 http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.actpsy.2014.12.005

# 5 Experiment 2 - Hemispheric asymmetries of a motor memory in a recognition test after learning a movement sequence

Peter Leinen<sup>1</sup>, Stefan Panzer<sup>1</sup> & Charles H. Shea<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Saarland University, Im Stadtwald B8.2, D-66041 Saarbrücken, Germany

<sup>2</sup> Texas A&M University, Department of Health and Kinesiology, Texas A&M University College Station, TX 77843-4243, United States

> Published in Acta Psychologica 171 (2016) 36–46 http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.actpsy.2016.09.007

# 6 Experiment 3 - Life span changes: Performing a continuous 1:2 bimanual coordination task

Peter Leinen<sup>1</sup>, Solveig Vieluf<sup>1,2</sup>, Deanna Kennedy<sup>3</sup>, Gisa Aschersleben<sup>4</sup>, Charles H. Shea<sup>3</sup> & Stefan Panzer<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Institute of Sport Science, Saarland University, Saarbrücken, Germany

<sup>2</sup> Aix-Marseille Université, CNRS, ISM UMR 7287, 13288 Marseille cedex 09, France

<sup>3</sup> Human Performance Laboratory, College Station, Texas A&M University, USA Texas

<sup>4</sup> Developmental Psychology Unit, Department of Psychology, Saarland University, Saarbrücken, Germany

> Human Movement Science 46 (2016) 209–220 http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.humov.2016.01.004

# 7 General discussion and outlook

This dissertation contributes to a better understanding of the human motor control system. According to Rosenbaum (2009) the subject of motor control can be structured into four core problems:

- the degrees of freedom problem
- the sequencing and timing problem
- the perceptual-motor integration problem
- the learning problem

The experiments in this thesis specifically address the latter two: how are perception and motor control combined? How are perceptual-motor skills acquired? The results of these experiments can be summed up into five main findings.

First, providing visual salient feedback information during the acquisition of a movement sequence is crucial for this kind of representation. If a visual salient feedback is concurrently provided, it stimulates a visual-spatial representation. But, if visual salient feedback is withheld, the acquired sequence tends to take a form of a motor coordinate representation (experiment 1).

Second, if the subjects develop a preference for a more efficient movement representation one day after the acquisition, this does not mean the motor system cannot fall back on the alternate representation. If the extrinsic salient feedback condition suddenly changes by covering salient feedback, the motor system adapts to the new condition and is able to access a motor coded representation (experiment 1). Third, if the motor coordinate representation is the dominant representation for a task, its information is mainly localized on the left brain hemisphere (experiment 3).

Fourth, salient information can be used to reduce the amount of attention consuming processes in a difficult 1:2 bimanual coordination task. By using the concept of a Lissajous template the visual feedback information of two hands can be compressed in a single cursor. This relieves attentional processes during an online controlled execution and simplifies bimanual coordination.

Fifth, this support through preprocessed and reduced salient feedback information by using a Lissajous template works on all three age groups in this experiment (children, young adults and older adults). However, performance differs between these groups. Performance over age groups can be described as an inverted-U-function. Middle-aged young adults out-perform both of the other groups.

In the follow-up section it will be discussed in more detail how this finding have a share in the above mentioned two core problems of motor control.

# 7.1 The learning problem

What Rosenbaum (2009) named the fourth core problem is the question of how motor skills are acquired. The first two experiments described in this thesis deal with the influence of salient information on learning processes, or, to be more specific, learning a movement sequence of a spatial-temporal movement sequence. The first result (see above) shows how the learning process is deeply codetermined by the extrinsic feedback modalities the learner is equipped with during acquisition. This is not a new finding. The influence of extrinsic visual information on our performance has been an active research field since Woodworth (1899). As argued in experiment 1 and already in previous research by Kovacs, Boyle, Gruetzmacher and Shea (2010), the learner operates in a pre-planned control-mode if salient information is withheld during execution in the acquisition phase. If information is given the learner operates in an online controlled mode. These control modes based on Glover's (2004) concept are related to Rosenbaum's (2009) concept, which propose that motor learning uses forward and inverse models to improve during the acquisition of a skill. Furthermore, supporting a motor task during acquisition also influences what the learner believes is the more efficient coding system (motor vs. visual-spatial) to rely on.

Based on the second main findings it can be assumed that the motor control system during a learning process does not only develop the most efficient representation of a motor sequence under the given conditions. Like Hikosaka et. al. (1999) already proposed in their model, the less efficient representation is developed as well. With changing conditions, like withdrawal of the salient information, the motor system can immediately fall back from the primary stream of visual-spatial coded information to the secondary stream of motor-coded information and keep up its performance as far as possible.

The third main finding of experiment 2 clarifies in the context of learning the localization of motor-coded information directly after an acquisition. The results from these two sub-experiments offered further evidence for an asymmetry of the human brain hemispheres. Independent of handedness motor coded information seem to be stored on the left brain hemisphere. This main finding supports the concept of brain hemisphere specialization (Liepmann, 1905; Kimura, 1977; Serrien and Sovijärvi-Spapé, 2015) and helps to get a deeper understanding of the neural level of motor learning.

Experiment 3 is not directly connected to a review of learning processes. There was no retention test after a certain time period and no control condition if the acquired bimanual coordination pattern outlasted a certain time period, which is a basic requirement for learning in general.

# 7.2 The perceptual-motor integration problem

The question of how motor learning is established is intertwined with the question of perception-motor integration. To improve motor learning processes a learner is dependent on some kind of feedback. It is the basic mechanism to detect errors and correct these on the fly or in further trials. As already mentioned in the introduction, visual feedback is one of the most powerful feedback channels of the human motor system and salient information is a way to make this visual feedback easier to process. But modulating feedback always has some kind of impact on the whole motor performance and learning process. Besides the already mentioned influence of the availability of salient feedback on our motor control-mode and the kind of representation knowledge, salient information can also accelerate the acquisition processes. What is listed as the fourth of the main findings of this dissertation describes how perceptual processing can be reduced in a 1:2 continuous bimanual coordination task, which results in a better integration into the motor control system.

This kind of multi-frequency ratio task, which consists of an alternating in-phase/antiphase pattern is quiet a challenge for a novice performer (e.g., Byblow & Goodman, 1994; Sternad, Turvey, & Saltzman, 1999a, 1999b; Treffner & Turvey, 1993; Swinnen, Dounskaia, Walter, & Serrien, 1997). Without the presented salient information the performer would have to invest a lot of time to manage the task, but displaying salient information in form of Lissajous feedback and template, the performer can manage this task in about 5 min (Kovac, Buchanan & Shea, 2010). An explanation for the impressive support of this kind of salient information in this task is based on perceptual constraints. The performers have to split their attention on two effectors at the same time. Additionally, the effectors are in a continuous change between stable and less stable coordination patterns. This perceptional split and ongoing change in coordination patterns is hard to manage for the motor system (Shea, Buchanan & Kennedy, 2015). An online controlled task like in this experiment relies on a steady and fast feedback integration. By compressing the feedback into a single attention point perceptual feedback integration is facilitated and biomechanical constraints of the altering shift between stable and less stable coordination patterns can be overwhelmed (Shea, Buchanan & Kennedy, 2015). Furthermore, the fifth main finding suggests that this advantage (offered by a facilitated visual feedback integration) is available to performers regardless of their age. The findings of age-related differences are in accordance to other research which has demonstrated that children and older adults showed a strong tendency to produce mirror movements (e.g., Addamo et al., 2009; Wolff et al., 1983).

## 7.3 Outlook

Based on the main findings of this dissertation and the highlighted links between salient information and motor learning/performance, it becomes clear that salient information has a huge impact on the way our motor system processes information. These interactions should always be considered in future research in the field of motor learning and performance. A further approach resulting from the findings of experiment 1 and experiment 2 would be to ask if changing access to salient information during performance does not only change the coding mode of the acquired information and the control-mode during the task, but also influences which brain hemisphere is dominantly involved in the process. Furthermore, it will be interesting to find out if this hemisphere dominance also switches by changing the access to salient information. To answer this question it would be necessary to extend the domain of behavioral research to а neural brain imagerv level, like monitoring electroencephalography (EEG) activity during the execution of a unimanual movement sequence. By comparing the motor cortex area activity of both brain hemispheres, it could be possible to detect a change in hemisphere dominance under different salient information conditions. The results of an experiment like this would probably be a further step to help integrate the findings of this dissertation and its underlying theoretical concepts into a neural structural correlate, which is widely discussed in the domain of brain hemisphere specialization (Haaland & Harrington, 1989; Harrington & Haaland, 1992; Kimura, 1977; Mutha, et al., 2012; Serrien, et. al., 2006 for overviews).

Another connection point of further research would be to close the experimental gap between the work of Ellenbuerger et. al. (2012) and experiment 2 in this dissertation. Ellenbuerger et. al. (2012) analyzed how presenting information in different visualhalf-fields in a pure observational learning setting influences the performance in a physical execution transfer-test the next day. Their result showed an advantage for visual-spatial coded information, if the information was presented in the visual central field or right-half-field. Experiment 2 of this dissertation found evidence of a rightvisual-field advantage for recognition motor-coded information after a physical acquisition. A question arising from these two experiments is to know whether presenting salient information in a benefited half-field during a physical acquisition would lead to an advantage in performance. To answer this question would require an experiment which ensures an exclusive presentation of the information in the specific half-field. This could be implemented by using a head-mounted-display or a virtual reality headset. Potential results of such an experiment would also be interesting from the perspective of applied science. The arrangement of information on head-updisplays, for example in cars, could be improved by considering these findings.

The last of the three experiments shows how it is possible to use manipulate salient information in order to achieve a huge performance gain in a very difficult bimanual coordination task. This idea of optimizing salient information in other complex coordination tasks deserves more attention, particularly in the field of applied science. Rehabilitation research, for example, could improve methods for relearning disrupted coordination patterns after a stroke. In sports or when learning musical instruments, it is often a hard challenge for the learner to adopt complex coordination patterns, like doing gymnastics or playing the guitar. With today's possibilities, which range from smartphone applications to real time full body motion tracking, these challenges could be lowered (especially for novices) by additionally presenting compressed salient feedback information during the initial learning phase.

# References

- Abrahamse, E. L., Ruitenberg, M. F. L., de Kleine, E., & Verwey, W. B. (2013). Control of automated behavior: insights from the discrete sequence production task. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 7 (March), 82. http://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2013.00082
- Adams, J. A. (1968). Response feedback and learning. *Psychological Bulletin*, 70(6, Pt.1), 486–504. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0026741
- Adams, J. A. (1971). A closed-loop theory of motor learning. *Journal of Motor Behavior*, *3*(2), 111–49. http://doi.org/10.1080/00222895.1971.10734898
- Addamo, P. K., Farrow, M., Bradshaw, J. L., & Georgiou-Karistianis, N. (2011). Relative or absolute? Implications and consequences of the measures adopted to investigate motor overflow. *Journal of Motor Behavior*, 43(3), 203–12. http://doi.org/10.1080/00222895.2011.561376
- Addamo, P. K., Farrow, M., Hoy, K. E., Bradshaw, J. L., & Georgiou-Karistianis, N. (2009). The influence of task characteristics on younger and older adult motor overflow. *Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology* (2006), 62(2), 239–47. http://doi.org/10.1080/17470210802269217
- Aziz-Zadeh, L., Iacoboni, M., Zaidel, E., Wilson, S., & Mazziotta, J. (2004). Left hemisphere motor facilitation in response to manual action sounds. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 19(9), 2609–2612. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.0953-816X.2004.03348.x
- Aziz-Zadeh, L., Koski, L., Zaidel, E., Mazziotta, J., & Iacoboni, M. (2006). Lateralization of the human mirror neuron system. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 26(11), 2964–2970. http://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2921-05.2006
- Baliz, Y., Armatas, C., Farrow, M., Hoy, K. E., Fitzgerald, P. B., Bradshaw, J. L., & Georgiou-Karistianis, N. (2005). The influence of attention and age on the occurrence of mirror movements. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society* : *JINS*, *11*(7), 855–862. http://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617705051003
- Bapi, R. S., Doya, K., & Harner, A. M. (2000). Evidence for effector independent and dependent representations and their differential time course of acquisition during motor sequence learning. *Experimental Brain Research*, 132(2), 149–162. http://doi.org/10.1007/s002219900332

- Bapi, R. S., Miyapuram, K. P., Graydon, F. X., & Doya, K. (2006). fMRI Investigation of Cortical and Subcortical Networks in the Learning of Abstract and Effector-Specific Representations of Motor Sequences. *Neuroimage*, (32(2)), 714–727.
- Bashore, T. R. (1981). Vocal and manual reaction time estimates of interhemispheric transmission time. *Psychological Bulletin*, *89*(2), 352.
- Berlucchi, G., Aglioti, S., & Tassinari, G. (1994). The role of the corpus callosum and bilaterally distributed motor pathways in the synchronization of bilateral upper-limb responses to lateralized light stimuli. In S. P. Swinnen, H. Heuer, J. Massion, & P. Casaer (Eds.), *Interlimb coordination: Neural, dynamical, and cognitive constraints* (pp. 209–227). San Diego, CA, US: Academic Press.
- Bilodeau, E. A., & Bilodeau, I. M. (1958). Variation of temporal intervals among critical events in five studies of knowledge of results. *Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 55(6), 603.
- Bilodeau, E. A. (1966). Acquisition of skill. Oxford, England: Academic Press
- Blandin, Y., Toussaint, L., & Shea, C. H. (2008). Specificity of practice: interaction between concurrent sensory information and terminal feedback. *Journal of Experimental Psychology. Learning, Memory, and Cognition, 34*(4), 994–1000. http://doi.org/10.1037/0278-7393.34.4.994
- Bourne, V. J. (2006). The divided visual field paradigm: methodological considerations. *Laterality*, *11*(4), 373–393. http://doi.org/10.1080/13576500600633982
- Boutin, A., Badets, A., Salesse, R. N., Fries, U., Panzer, S., & Blandin, Y. (2012). Practice makes transfer of motor skills imperfect. *Psychological Research*, *76*(5), 611–625. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00426-011-0355-2
- Brainard, D. H. (1997). The Psychophysics Toolbox. *Spatial Vision*, *10*, 433–436. http://doi.org/10.1163/156856897X00357
- Byblow, W. D., & Goodman, D. (1994). Performance asymmetries in multifrequency coordination. *Human Movement Science*, *13*(2), 147–174. http://doi.org/10.1016/0167-9457(94)90034-5
- Cardoso de Oliveira, S. (2002). The neuronal basis of bimanual coordination: recent neurophysiological evidence and functional models. *Acta Psychologica*, *110*(2–3), 139–159. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0001-6918(02)00031-8
- Cattaert, D., Semjen, A., & Summers, J. J. (1999). Simulating a neural cross-talk model for between-hand interference during bimanual circle drawing. *Biological Cybernetics*, *81*(4), 343–358. http://doi.org/DOI 10.1007/s004220050567

- Chicoine, A. J., Proteau, L., & Lassonde, M. (2000). Absence of interhemispheric transfer of unilateral visuomotor learning in young children and individuals with agenesis of the corpus callosum. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, *18*(1), 73–94. http://doi.org/10.1207/S15326942DN1801\_5
- Clegg, B. A., DiGirolamo, G. J., & Keele, S. W. (1998). Sequence learning. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*. http://doi.org/10.1016/S1364-6613(98)01202-9
- Cohen, H. J., Taft, L. T., Mahadeviah, M. S., & Birch, H. G. (1967). Developmental changes in overflow in normal and aberrantly functioning children. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, *71*(1), 39–47. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-3476(67)80228-2
- Cohen, J. (1988). Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences. Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences (Vol. 2nd). http://doi.org/10.1234/12345678
- Connolly, K., & Stratton, P. (1968). Developmental changes in associated movements. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology*, *10*(1), 49–56.
- Cornwell, A., Khodiguian, N., & Yoo, E. J. (2012). Relevance of hand dominance to the bilateral deficit phenomenon. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, *112*(12), 4163–4172. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-012-2403-z
- Daffertshofer, A., Peper, C. E., & Beek, P. J. (2005). Stabilization of bimanual coordination due to active interhemispheric inhibition: A dynamical account. *Biological Cybernetics*, 92(2), 101–109. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00422-004-0539-6
- de Kleine, E., & Verwey, W. B. (2009). Representations underlying skill in the discrete sequence production task: Effect of hand used and hand position. *Psychological Research*, *73*(5), 685–694. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00426-008-0174-2
- Deroost, N., & Soetens, E. (2006). The role of response selection in sequence learning. *Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology (2006)*, 59(3), 449–56. http://doi.org/10.1080/17470210500462684
- Desmurget, M., & Grafton, S. (2000). Forward modeling allows feedback control for fast reaching movements. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*. http://doi.org/10.1016/S1364-6613(00)01537-0
- Dirnberger, G., & Novak-Knollmueller, J. (2013). Motor and perceptual sequence learning: different time course of parallel processes. *Neuroreport*, *24*(10), 578–83. http://doi.org/10.1097/WNR.0b013e3283625cfa
- Duque, J., Mazzocchio, R., Dambrosia, J., Murase, N., Olivier, E., & Cohen, L. G. (2005). Kinematically specific interhemispheric inhibition operating in the

process of generation of a voluntary movement. *Cerebral Cortex*, *15*(5), 588–593. http://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhh160

- Ellenbuerger, T., Boutin, A., Panzer, S., Blandin, Y., Fischer, L., Schorer, J., & Shea, C. H. (2012). Observational training in visual half-fields and the coding of movement sequences. *Human Movement Science*, 31(6), 1436–1448. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.humov.2012.06.007
- Elliott, D., Helsen, W. F., & Chua, R. (2001). A century later: Woodworth's (1899) two-component model of goal-directed aiming. *Psychological Bulletin*, 127(3), 342–357. http://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.127.3.342
- Elliott, D., Binsted, G., & Heath, M. (1999). The control of goal-directed limb movements: Correcting errors in the trajectory. *Human Movement Science*, *18*(2–3), 121–136. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-9457(99)00004-4
- Elliott, D., Chua, R., Pollock, B. J., & Lyons, J. (1995). Optimizing the use of vision in manual aiming: The role of practice. *The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology*, *48A*(1), 72–83. http://doi.org/10.1080/14640749508401376
- Flowers, K. A. (1976). Visual "closed-loop" and "open-loop" characteristics of voluntary movement in patients with parkinsonism and intention tremor. *Brain*, 99(2), 269–310. http://doi.org/10.1093/brain/99.2.269
- Galléa, C., Popa, T., Billot, S., Méneret, A., Depienne, C., & Roze, E. (2011). Congenital mirror movements: A clue to understanding bimanual motor control. *Journal of Neurology*. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-011-6107-9
- Glover, S. (2004). Separate visual representations in the planning and control of action. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 27(1), 1–76. http://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X04000020
- Goldberg, E., Podell, K., & Lovell, M. (1994). Lateralization of frontal lobe functions and cognitive novelty. *The Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*. http://doi.org/10.1176/jnp.6.4.371
- Gooijers, J., & Swinnen, S. P. (2014). Interactions between brain structure and behavior: The corpus callosum and bimanual coordination. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 43, 1–19. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.03.008
- Greenhouse, S. W., & Geisser, S. (1959). On methods in the analysis of profile data. *Psychometrika*, 24(2), 95–112. http://doi.org/10.1007/BF02289823
- Guiard, Y. (1997). Fitts' law in the discrete vs. cyclical paradigm. *Human Movement Science*, *16*(1), 97–131. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-9457(96)00045-0

- Guiard, Y. (1993). On Fitts's and Hooke's laws: Simple harmonic movement in upperlimb cyclical aiming. *Acta Psychologica*, *82*(1–3), 139–159. http://doi.org/10.1016/0001-6918(93)90009-G
- Haaland, K. Y., Harrington, D. L., & Knight, R. T. (2000). Neural representations of skilled movement. *Brain*, *123*(11), 2306–2313. http://doi.org/10.1093/brain/123.11.2306
- Haaland, K. Y., & Harrington, D. L. (1996). Hemispheric asymmetry of movement. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0959-4388(96)80030-4
- Haaland, K. Y., Elsinger, C. L., Mayer, A. R., Durgerian, S., & Rao, S. M. (2004). Motor sequence complexity and performing hand produce differential patterns of hemispheric lateralization. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 16(4), 621–636. http://doi.org/10.1162/089892904323057344
- Haaland, K. Y., & Harrington, D. (1989). The role of the hemispheres in closed loop movements. *Brain and Cognition*, 9(2), 158–180. http://doi.org/10.1016/0278-2626(89)90027-4
- Hardyck, C., Tzeng, O. J. L., & Wang, W. S. Y. (1977). Cerebral lateralisation effects in visual half-field experiments. *Nature*, *269*(5630), 705–707. http://doi.org/10.1038/269705a0
- Harrington, D. L., & Haaland, K. Y. (1992). Motor sequencing with left hemisphere damage: Are some cognitive deficits specific to limb apraxia? *Brain*, *115*(3), 857–874. http://doi.org/10.1093/brain/115.3.857
- Heuer, H. (1993). Structural constraints on bimanual movements. *Psychological Research*, 55(2), 83–98. http://doi.org/10.1007/BF00419639
- Heuer, H., Spijkers, W., Kleinsorge, T., Van Der Loo, H., & Steglich, C. (1998). The time course of cross-talk during the simultaneous specification of bimanual movement amplitudes. *Experimental Brain Research*, 118(3), 381–392. http://doi.org/10.1007/s002210050292
- Hicks, R. E. (1974). Asymmetry of Bilateral Transfer. *Source: The American Journal* of Psychology, 87(4), 667–674. http://doi.org/10.2307/1421973
- Hikosaka, O., Rand, M. K., Miyachi, S., & Miyashita, K. (1995). Learning of sequential movements in the monkey: process of learning and retention of memory. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 74(4), 1652–1661. http://doi.org/10.1152/jn.01320.2005
- Hikosaka, O., Nakamura, K., Sakai, K., & Nakahara, H. (2002). Central mechanisms of motor skill learning. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0959-4388(02)00307-0

- Hikosaka, O., Sakai, K., Lu, X., Nakahara, H., Rand, M. K., Nakamura, K., ... Doya, K. (1999). Parallel neural networks for learning sequential procedures. *Trends in Neurosciences*. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-2236(99)01439-3
- Hoffmann, J., & Koch, I. (1997). Stimulus-response compatibility and sequential learning in the serial reaction time task. *Psychological Research*, 60(1–2), 87–97. http://doi.org/10.1007/BF00419682
- Hoy, K. E., Fitzgerald, P. B., Bradshaw, J. L., Armatas, C. A., & Georgiou-Karistianis, N. (2004). Investigating the cortical origins of motor overflow. *Brain Research Reviews*. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresrev.2004.07.013
- Hughes, C. M., & Franz, E. a. (2007). Experience-dependent effects in unimanual and bimanual reaction time tasks in musicians. *Journal of Motor Behavior*, *39*(1), 3–8. http://doi.org/10.3200/JMBR.39.1.3-8
- Hultsch, D. F., MacDonald, S. W. S., & Dixon, R. A. (2002). Variability in Reaction Time Performance of Younger and Older Adults. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 57(2), P101–P115. http://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/57.2.P101
- Hunter, Z. R., & Brysbaert, M. (2008). Visual half-field experiments are a good measure of cerebral language dominance if used properly: Evidence from fMRI. *Neuropsychologia*, 46(1), 316–325. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2007.07.007
- Jason, G. W. (1983). Hemispheric asymmetries in motor function: I. Left-hemisphere specialization for memory but not performance. *Neuropsychologia*, *21*(1), 35–45. http://doi.org/10.1016/0028-3932(83)90098-2
- Jordan, T. R., Patching, G. R., & Milner, a D. (1998). Central fixations are inadequately controlled by instructions alone: implications for studying cerebral asymmetry. *The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology*. A, Human *Experimental Psychology*, 51(2), 371–91. http://doi.org/10.1080/713755764
- Kagerer, F. A., Summers, J. J., & Semjen, A. (2003). Instabilities during antiphase bimanual movements: Are ipsilateral pathways involved? *Experimental Brain Research*, 151(4), 489–500. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-003-1496-3
- Kappers, A. M. L. (1999). Large systematic deviations in the haptic perception of parallelity. *Perception*, 28(8), 1001–1012. http://doi.org/10.1068/p2802
- Kappers, A. M. L. (2002). Haptic perception of parallelity in the midsagittal plane. *Acta Psychologica*, *109*(1), 25–40. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0001-6918(01)00047-6
- Kappers, A. M. L., & Koenderink, J. J. (1999). Haptic perception of spatial relations. *Perception*, *28*(6), 781–795. http://doi.org/10.1068/p2930

- Keele, S. W., & Posner, M. I. (1968). Processing of visual feedback in rapid movements. *Journal of experimental psychology*, *77*(1), 155.
- Keele, S. W., Jennings, P., Jones, S., Caulton, D., & Cohen, A. (1995). On the Modularity of Sequence Representation. *Journal of Motor Behavior*, 27(1), 17–30. http://doi.org/10.1080/00222895.1995.9941696
- Keele, S. W., Ivry, R., Mayr, U., Hazeltine, E., & Heuer, H. (2003). The cognitive and neural architecture of sequence representation. *Psychological Review*, 110(2), 316–339. http://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.110.2.316
- Kelso, J. A. (1984). Phase transitions and critical behavior in human bimanual coordination. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 246(6), R1000-R1004.
- Kelso, J. A. S., Scholz, J. P., & Schöner, G. (1986). Nonequilibrium phase transitions in coordinated biological motion: critical fluctuations. *Physics Letters A*, 118(6), 279–284. http://doi.org/10.1016/0375-9601(86)90359-2
- Kennedy, D. M., Boyle, J. B., Rhee, J., & Shea, C. H. (2014). Rhythmical bimanual force production: homologous and non-homologous muscles. *Experimental Brain Research*, 233(1), 181–195. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-014-4102-y
- Kennedy, D. M., Boyle, J. B., Wang, C., & Shea, C. H. (2016). Bimanual force control: cooperation and interference? *Psychological Research*, *80*(1), 34–54. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00426-014-0637-6
- Kennedy, D. M., Rhee, J., & Shea, C. H. (2016). Symmetrical and asymmetrical influences on force production in 1: 2 and 2: 1 bimanual force coordination tasks. *Experimental Brain Research*, 234(1), 287–300.
- Kimura, D. (1977). Acquisition of a motor skill after left-hemisphere damage. *Brain*, *100*(3), 527–542. http://doi.org/10.1093/brain/100.3.527
- Kinsbourne, M. (1970). The cerebral basis of lateral asymmetries in attention. *Acta Psychologica*, *33*(C), 193–201. http://doi.org/10.1016/0001-6918(70)90132-0
- Kirsch, W., & Kunde, W. (2012). Impact of hand orientation on bimanual finger coordination in an eight-finger tapping task. *Human Movement Science*, 31(6), 1399–1408. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.humov.2012.02.015
- Klapp, S. T. (1996). Reaction time analysis of central motor control. *Advances in motor learning and control*, *21*, 13-35.

- Klapp, S. T., & Jagacinski, R. J. (2011). Gestalt principles in the control of motor action. *Psychological Bulletin*, *137*(3), 443–462. http://doi.org/10.1037/a0022361
- Korman, M., Raz, N., Flash, T., & Karni, A. (2003). Multiple shifts in the representation of a motor sequence during the acquisition of skilled performance. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 100(21), 12492–7. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2035019100
- Kovacs, A. J., Boyle, J., Grutmatcher, N., & Shea, C. H. (2010). Coding of on-line and pre-planned movement sequences. *Acta Psychologica*, *133*(2), 119–126. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.actpsy.2009.10.007
- Kovacs, A. J., Han, D. W., & Shea, C. H. (2009). Representation of movement sequences is related to task characteristics. *Acta Psychologica*, *132*(1), 54–61. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.actpsy.2009.06.007
- Kovacs, A. J., Buchanan, J. J., & Shea, C. H. (2010). Perceptual and Attentional Influences on Continuous 2 : 1 and 3 : 2 Multi-Frequency Bimanual Coordination. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance*, 36(4), 936–954. http://doi.org/10.1037/a0019259
- Kovacs, A. J., Mühlbauer, T., & Shea, C. H. (2009). The coding and effector transfer of movement sequences. *Journal of Experimental Psychology. Human Perception and Performance*, 35(2), 390–407. http://doi.org/10.1037/a0012733
- Kurata, K., & Wise, S. P. (1988). Premotor and supplementary motor cortex in rhesus monkeys: neuronal activity during externally- and internally-instructed motor tasks. *Exp Brain Res*, *72*(2), 237–248.
- Kurata, K., & Hoshi, E. (2002). Movement-related neuronal activity reflecting the transformation of coordinates in the ventral premotor cortex of monkeys. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *88*, 3118–3132. http://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00070.2002
- Lashley, K. S. (1951). The problem of serial order in behavior. In L.A. Jeffress (Ed.), Cerebral mechanisms in behavior: The Hixon symposium. New York: Wiley. http://doi.org/10.1093/rfs/hhq153
- Li, S.-C., Lindenberger, U., Hommel, B., Aschersleben, G., Prinz, W., & Baltes, P. B. (2004). Transformations in the couplings among intellectual abilities and constituent cognitive processes across the life span. *Psychological Science*, *15*(3), 155–163.
- Liepmann, H. (1905). Die linke Hemisph{ä}re und das Handeln. *Muenchener Medizinische Wochenschrift*, 49, 2375–2378.

- Marteniuk, R. G., MacKenzie, C. L., & Baba, D. M. (1984). Bimanual movement control: Information processing and interaction effects. *The Quarterly journal of experimental psychology*, *36*(2), 335-365.
- Meyer, B. U., Röricht, S., Von Einsiedel, H. G., Kruggel, F., & Weindl, A. (1995). Inhibitory and excitatory interhemispheric transfers between motor cortical areas in normal humans and patients with abnormalities of the corpus callosum. *Brain*, *118*(2), 429–440. http://doi.org/10.1093/brain/118.2.429
- Meyer, D. E., Smith, J. E., & Wright, C. E. (1982). Models for the speed and accuracy of aimed movements. *Psychological Review*, *89*(5), 449–482. http://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.89.5.449
- Mutha, P. K., Haaland, K. Y., & Sainburg, R. L. (2012). The effects of brain lateralization on motor control and adaptation. *Journal of Motor Behavior*. http://doi.org/10.1080/00222895.2012.747482
- Nakahara, H., Doya, K., & Hikosaka, O. (2001). Parallel cortico-basal ganglia mechanisms for acquisition and execution of visuomotor sequences a computational approach. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, *13*(5), 626–47. http://doi.org/10.1162/089892901750363208
- Nattkemper, D., & Prinz, W. (1997). Stimulus and response anticipation in a serial reaction task. *Psychological Research*, 60(October 1996), 98–112. http://doi.org/10.1007/BF00419683
- Oldfield, R. C. (1971). The assessment and analysis of handedness: The Edinburgh inventory. *Neuropsychologia*, *9*(1), 97–113. http://doi.org/10.1016/0028-3932(71)90067-4
- Panzer, S., Boyle, J. B., & Shea, C. H. (2013). Additional load decreases movement time in the wrist but not in arm movements at ID 6. *Experimental Brain Research*, 224(2), 243–253. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-012-3303-5
- Panzer, S., Gruetzmacher, N., Fries, U., Krueger, M., & Shea, C. H. (2011). Agerelated effects in interlimb practice on coding complex movement sequences. *Human Movement Science*, 30(3), 459–474. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.humov.2010.11.003
- Panzer, S., Krueger, M., Muehlbauer, T., Kovacs, A. J., & Shea, C. H. (2009). Intermanual transfer and practice: Coding of simple motor sequences. *Acta Psychologica*, 131(2), 99–109. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.actpsy.2009.03.004
- Panzer, S., Schinowski, D., & Kohle, D. (2011). Cross-Education and contralateral irradiation. *Journal of Human Kinetics*, 27(1), 66–79. http://doi.org/10.2478/v10078-011-0006-0

- Park, J.-H., & Shea, C. H. (2005). Sequence learning: response structure and effector transfer. *The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology*. A, Human *Experimental Psychology*, 58(3), 387–419. http://doi.org/10.1080/02724980343000918
- Parlow, S. E., & Kinsbourne, M. (1989). Asymmetrical transfer of training between hands: Implications for interhemispheric communication in normal brain. *Brain and Cognition*, *11*(1), 98–113. http://doi.org/10.1016/0278-2626(89)90008-0
- Peper, C. L. E., Van Loon, E. C. P., Van de Rijt, A., Salverda, A., & Van Kuijk, A. a. (2013). Bimanual training for children with cerebral palsy: Exploring the effects of Lissajous-based computer gaming. *Developmental Neurorehabilitation*, 16(November), 1–11. http://doi.org/10.3109/17518423.2012.760116
- Pfefferbaum, A., Sullivan, E. V., Hedehus, M., Lim, K. O., Adalsteinsson, E., & Moseley, M. (2000). Age-related decline in brain white matter anisotropy measured with spatially corrected echo-planar diffusion tensor imaging. *Magnetic Resonance in Medicine*, 44(2), 259–268. http://doi.org/10.1002/1522-2594(200008)44:2<259::AID-MRM13>3.0.CO;2-6
- Poffenberger, A. T. (1912). *Reaction time to retinal stimulation: with special reference to the time lost in conduction through nerve centers*. Science Press.
- Pohl, P. S., Winstein, C. J., & Fisher, B. E. (1996). The locus of age-related movement slowing: sensory processing in continuous goal-directed aiming. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 51(2), 94-102.
- Prablanc, C., Desmurget, M., & Gréa, H. (2003). Neural control of on-line guidance of hand reaching movements. In *Progress in Brain Research* (Vol. 142, pp. 155–170). http://doi.org/10.1016/S0079-6123(03)42012-8
- Proctor, R. W., & Reeve, T. G. (1990). Research on stimulus-response compatibility: Toward a comprehensive account. *Advances in Psychology*, *65*, 483–494.
- Robertson, E. M., & Pascual-Leone, A. (2001). Aspects of sensory guidance in sequence learning. *Experimental Brain Research*, *137*(3–4), 336–345. http://doi.org/10.1007/s002210000673
- Rosenbaum, D. A. (1990). On Choosing Between Movement Sequences: Comments on Rose (1988). Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance, 16(2), 439–444. http://doi.org/10.1037/0096-1523.16.2.439

Rosenbaum, D. A. (2009). *Human motor control*. Academic press.

Sainburg, R. L. (2005). Handedness: differential specializations for control of trajectory and position. *Exercise and Sport Sciences Reviews*, 33(4), 206–213. http://doi.org/10.1097/00003677-200510000-00010

- Sainburg, R. L., & Wang, J. (2002). Interlimb transfer of visuomotor rotations: Independence of direction and final position information. *Experimental Brain Research*, 145(4), 437–447. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-002-1140-7
- Sakai, K., Hikosaka, O., Miyauchi, S., Takino, R., Sasaki, Y., & Pütz, B. (1998). Transition of brain activation from frontal to parietal areas in visuomotor sequence learning. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 18(5), 1827–1840.
- Salat, D. H., Tuch, D. S., Greve, D. N., Van Der Kouwe, A. J. W., Hevelone, N. D., Zaleta, A. K., ... Dale, A. M. (2005). Age-related alterations in white matter microstructure measured by diffusion tensor imaging. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 26(8), 1215–1227. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2004.09.017
- San Agustin, J., Skovsgaard, H., Mollenbach, E., Barret, M., Tall, M., Hansen, D. W., & Hansen, J. P. (2010). Evaluation of a low-cost open-source gaze tracker. In Proceedings of the 2010 Symposium on Eye-Tracking Research & Applications -ETRA '10 (p. 77). http://doi.org/10.1145/1743666.1743685
- Saunders, J. A., & Knill, D. C. (2003). Humans use continuous visual feedback from the hand to control fast reaching movements. *Experimental Brain Research*, 152(3), 341–352. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-003-1525-2
- Schmidt, R. A. (1975). A Schema Theory of Discrete Motor Skill Learning. *Psychological Review*, *82*(4), 225–260. http://doi.org/10.1037/h0076770
- Schmitz, R., Pasquali, A., Cleeremans, A., & Peigneux, P. (2013). Lateralized implicit sequence learning in uni- and bi-manual conditions. *Brain and Cognition*, 81(1), 1–9. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandc.2012.09.002
- Schumacher, E. H., Elston, P. a, & D'Esposito, M. (2003). Neural evidence for representation-specific response selection. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 15(8), 1111–1121. http://doi.org/10.1162/089892903322598085
- Searle, L. V., & Taylor, F. V. (1948). Studies of tracking behavior. I. Rate and time characteristics of simple corrective movements. *Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 38(5), 615–631. http://doi.org/10.1037/h0053957
- Seidler, R. D. (2010). Neural correlates of motor learning, transfer of learning, and learning to learn. *Exercise and Sport Sciences Reviews*, 38(1), 13. http://doi.org/10.1097/JES.0b013e3181c5cce7.Neural
- Sergent, J. (1982). The cerebral balance of power: confrontation or cooperation? Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance, 8(2), 253.

- Serrien, D. J., & Sovijärvi-Spapé, M. M. (2015). Hemispheric asymmetries and the control of motor sequences. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 283, 30–36. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2015.01.021
- Serrien, D. J., Ivry, R. B., & Swinnen, S. P. (2006). Dynamics of hemispheric specialization and integration in the context of motor control. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *7*(2), 160–166.
- Serrien, D. J., Sovijérvi-Spapé, M. M., & Rana, G. (2014). Developmental Changes in Motor Control: Insights From Bimanual Coordination. *Developmental Psychology*, 50(1), 316–323. http://doi.org/10.1037/a0032996
- Shea, C. H., Buchanan, J. J., & Kennedy, D. (2015). Perceptual--action constraints on discrete and continuous bimanual coordination. *Psychological Bulletin and Review.*, 10. http://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.3758/s13423-015-0915-3
- Shea, C. H., & Kovacs, A. (2013). Complex movement sequences. How the sequence structure affects learning and transfer. *Individual and Team Skill Decay: The Science and Implications for Practice. Taylor/Francis, New York*, 205–239.
- Shea, C. H., Kovacs, A., & Panzer, S. (2011). A review of coding and transfer of movement sequences. *Frontiers in Psychology*. http://doi.org/103389/fpsyg.2011.00052
- Shea, C. H., Panzer, S., & Kennedy, D. (2016). Effector Transfer. *Laterality in Sports*, 180–204.
- Shea, C. H., Kovacs, A. J., & Panzer, S. (2011). The coding and inter-manual transfer of movement sequences. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *2*(APR). http://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2011.00052
- Shea, C. H., & Wright, D. L. (2012). The representation, production, and transfer of simple and complex movement sequences. *Skill Acquisition in Sport: Research, Theory and Practice*, 131–149.
- Smits-Engelsman, B. C. M., Van Galen, G. P., & Duysens, J. (2004). Force levels in uni-and bimanual isometric tasks affect variability measures differently throughout lifespan. *Motor Control*, *8*, 437–449.
- Sternad, D., Turvey, M. T., & Saltzman, E. L. (1999a). Dynamics of 1: 2 coordination: Generalizing relative phase to n: m rhythms. *Journal of Motor Behavior*, 31(3), 207-223.
- Sternad, D., Turvey, M. T., & Saltzman, E. L. (1999b). Dynamics of 1: 2 coordination: sources of symmetry breaking. *Journal of motor behavior*, *31*(3), 224-235.

- Swinnen, S. P. (2002). Intermanual coordination: From behavioural principles to neural-network interactions. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 3(5), 350–361. http://doi.org/Doi 10.1038/Nrn807
- Swinnen, S. P., Dounskaia, N., Walter, C. B., & Serrien, D. J. (1997). Preferred and induced coordination modes during the acquisition of bimanual movements with a 2:1 frequency ratio. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance*, 23(4), 1087–1110. http://doi.org/10.1037/0096-1523.23.4.1087
- Swinnen, S. P., Walter, C. B., Serrien, D. J., & Vandendriessche, C. (1992). The effect of movement speed on upper-limb coupling strength. *Human Movement Science*, *11*(5), 615–636. http://doi.org/10.1016/0167-9457(92)90018-7
- Swinnen, S. P., & Wenderoth, N. (2004). Two hands, one brain: Cognitive neuroscience of bimanual skill. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2003.10.017
- Swinnen, S. P., Verschueren, S. M. P., Bogaerts, H., & Dounskaia, N. (1998). Age-Related Deficits in Motor Learning and Differences in Feedback Processing During the Production of a Bimanual Coordination Pattern. *Cognitive Neuropsychology*, 15(5), 439–466. http://doi.org/10.1080/026432998381104
- Tanaka, K., & Watanabe, K. (2014). Implicit transfer of spatial structure in visuomotor sequence learning. *Acta Psychologica*, 153, 1–12. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.actpsy.2014.09.003
- Taylor, H. G., & Heilman, K. M. (1980). Left-Hemisphere Motor Dominance in Righthanders. *Cortex*, *16*(4), 587–603.
- Thompson, S. G., McConnell, D. S., Slocum, J. S., & Bohan, M. (2007). Kinematic analysis of multiple constraints on a pointing task. *Human Movement Science*, 26(1), 11–26. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.humov.2006.09.001
- Thut, G., Cook, N. D., Regard, M., Leenders, K. L., Halsband, U., & Landis, T. (1996). Intermanual transfer of proximal and distal motor engrams in humans. *Experimental Brain Research*, *108*(2), 321–7. http://doi.org/10.1007/BF00228105
- Treffner, P. J., & Turvey, M. T. (1993). Resonance constraints on rhythmic movement. Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance, 19(6), 1221.
- Umiltà, C., Bagnara, S., & Simion, F. (1978). Laterality effects for simple and complex geometrical figures, and nonsense patterns. *Neuropsychologia*, *16*(1), 43–49. http://doi.org/10.1016/0028-3932(78)90041-6

- van Doorn, R. R. A., & Unema, P. J. A. (2004). Influence of different modes of real time visual information on single aimed movements. *Acta Psychologica*, 116(3), 309–326. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.actpsy.2004.04.004
- Verwey, W. B. (2003). Processing modes and parallel processors in producing familiar keying sequences. *Psychological Research*, 67(2), 106–122.
- Verwey, W. B. (1995). A Forthcoming Key Press Can Be Selected While Earlier Ones Are Executed. *Journal of Motor Behavior*, 27(October 2013), 275–284. http://doi.org/10.1080/00222895.1995.9941717
- Verwey, W. B., & Clegg, B. A. (2005). Effector dependent sequence learning in the serial RT task. *Psychological Research*, 69(4), 242–251. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00426-004-0181-x
- Verwey, W. B., Shea, C. H., & Wright, D. L. (2014). A cognitive framework for explaining serial processing and sequence execution strategies . *Psychological Bulletin*, 1–59. http://doi.org/10.3758/s13423-014-0773-4
- Verwey, W. B., & Wright, D. L. (2004). Effector-independent and effector-dependent learning in the discrete sequence production task. *Psychological Research*, 68(1), 64–70. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00426-003-0144-7
- Vieluf, S., Massing, M., Blandin, Y., Leinen, P., & Panzer, S. (2015). The role of eye movements in motor sequence learning. *Human Movement Science*, *40*, 220–236. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.humov.2015.01.004
- Walter, C. B., & Swinnen, S. P. (1990a). Kinetic attraction during bimanual coordination. *Journal of Motor Behavior*, 22(4), 451–473. http://doi.org/10.1080/00222895.1990.10735523
- Walter, C. B., & Swinnen, S. P. (1990b). Asymmetric interlimb interference during the performance of a dynamic bimanual task. *Brain and Cognition*, *14*(2), 185–200. http://doi.org/10.1016/0278-2626(90)90028-M
- Wang, J., & Sainburg, R. L. (2006). Interlimb transfer of visuomotor rotations depends on handedness. *Experimental Brain Research*, 175(2), 223–230. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-006-0543-2
- Wiesendanger, M., Wicki, U., & Rouiller, E. (1994). Are There Unifying Structures in the Brain Responsible for Interlimb Coordination? In S. P. Swinnen, H. Heuer, J. Massion, & P. Casaer (Eds.), *Interlimb Coordination* (pp. 179–207). San Diego: Academic. http://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-679270-6.50014-0
- Winer, B. J., Brown, D. R., & Michels, K. M. (1971). *Statistical principles in experimental design* (Vol. 2). McGraw-Hill New York.

- Wolff, P. H., Gunnoe, C. E., & Cohen, C. (1983). Associated movements as a measure of developmental age. *Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology*, 25(4), 417–429. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8749.1983.tb13786.x
- Woodworth, R. S. (1899). Accuracy of voluntary movement. *The Psychological Review: Monograph Supplements*, 3(3), i-114. http://doi.org/10.1037/h0092992
- Yakovlev, P. I., & Lecours, A.-R. (1967). The myelogenetic cycles of regional maturation of the brain. In *Regional Development of Brain in Early Life* (pp. 3–70).
- Ziessler, M., & Nattkemper, D. (2001). Learning of Event Sequences Is Based on Response-Effect Learning: Further Evidence From a Serial Reaction Task. *Journal of Experimental Psychology. Learning, Memory, and Cognition*, 27(3), 595–613. http://doi.org/10.1037/0278-7393.27.3.595
- Zirngibl, C., & Koch, I. (2002). The impact of response mode on implicit and explicit sequence learning. *Experimental Psychology*. http://doi.org/10.1027//1618-3169.49.2.153

# **Declaration of Authorship**

I hereby certify that this dissertation has been composed by me and is based on my own work, unless stated otherwise. No other person's work has been used without due acknowledgement in this thesis. All references and verbatim extracts have been quoted, and all sources of information, including graphs and data sets, have been specifically acknowledged.

-----

first and last name

date, city and signature

# **Curriculum Vitae**

# **Peter Leinen**

Persönliche Informationen

Geburtsdatum: 17.09.1982 Geburtsort: Saarlouis Staatsangehörigkeit: deutsch

# Schulbildung

1989 – 1993 : Grundschule Römerschule Dillingen-Pachten1993 – 2002 : Albert-Schweizer-Gymnasium Dillingen (Abschluss: Abitur)

#### <u>Studium</u>

2003 – 2004 : Studium an der Universität Mannheim im Fach "Software- & Internettechnologie" (ohne Abschluss) 2004 – 2011 : Studium an der Universität des Saarlandes im Fach "Sportwissenschaften" (Abschluss: Dipl. Sportlehrer)

### <u>Tätigkeit nach dem Studium</u>

seit 2012 : Promotionsstudium, Universität des Saarlandes seit 2012 : wissenschaftlicher Mitarbeiter, Lehrstuhl Trainingswissenschaft, Universität des Saarlandes

#### <u>Lehrtätigkeiten</u>

Übung: Exkursion Segeln/Surfen (SS2012) Übung: Fahren auf dem Wasser (SS2012) Übung: Recherchieren und Präsentieren (WS 2012/13) Übung: Bewegungswissenschaft (SS2013) Übung: Fahren auf dem Wasser (SS2013) Übung: Recherchieren und Präsentieren (WS 2013/14) Übung: Bewegungswissenschaft (SS2014) Übung: Recherchieren und Präsentieren (WS 2014/15) Seminar: Trainingsmethoden (SS2015) Übung: Fahren auf dem Wasser (SS2015) Übung: Recherchieren und Präsentieren (WS 2015/16) Seminar: Bewegungswissenschaft (SS2016) Übung: Recherchieren und Präsentieren (WS 2016/17) Seminar: Trainingsmethoden (SS2017)

#### <u>Weitere Tätigkeiten</u>

2002 – 2003 : Zivildienst, Arbeitsstelle für Integration, Saarlouis

# Sprachkenntnisse

Englisch - fließend in Wort und Schrift Französisch - Grundkenntnisse